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Date: 24 October 2017 

 
 

 
Mr. Ken Foxe, 

ken@righttoknow.ie  
 

 

 
Dear Mr. Foxe,  

 
I refer to the request which you made under the Freedom of Information (FOI) Act 2014 for records 

held by Irish Water. 

 
The records you requested are: 

 All records relating to the calculation of retirement benefits in terms of lump sums, pension 
payments and other such payments for John Tierney. 

 

I made a final decision to grant your request on 24 October 2017. If you have any queries regarding this 
correspondence you can contact me by telephone (01) 8925029 or by email foi@water.ie  

 

The decision-maker processing this FOI request has asked me to provide some background information 
in respect of Mr John Tierney’s retirement benefits.  Mr Tierney’s benefits derive from his employment 

contract with Ervia signed on 13 March 2013 when Ervia was known as Bord Gais Eireann. 
 

Mr Tierney was leaving his position as Dublin City Manager following a lengthy career in the local 

authority sector and it was agreed with him at the time that his local authority superannuation benefits 
would be preserved, so that he would be no worse off in that respect if he had stayed in that sector until 

retirement. 
 

Accordingly, the relevant section of his contract provided for Mr Tierney’s membership in a defined 
benefit scheme, on the standard basis that the scheme would provide a pension of 1/80th of basic salary 

for every year of combined local authority and Ervia service and a lump sum of 3/80ths for each year of 

such service.  
 

Therefore, Mr Tierney’s retirement benefits were calculated on the standard basis used for senior public 
servants, involving an annual pension and lump sum based on his length of service and final salary and, 

because his local authority contract had so provided, with no reduction made in respect of his retiring 

before the age of 60. Please note that Irish Water is limiting access to the quantum of the benefits 
payable to Mr. Tierney because they represent personal information and are thus exempt under Section 

37 (1) of the FOI Act (personal information), which states that a request for a record shall be 
refused if access to the record concerned would involve the disclosure of personal information. 
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As you may have seen, the cost to Ervia of providing these pension benefits to Mr Tierney, in line with 
his contractual entitlements, has been recorded in the financial statements of Irish Water, published on 

11 September 2017, at notes E1 and E3.  The sum of €473,000 recorded there represents this cost, as 

a contribution to the scheme. The calculations by which this sum was reached, redacted to remove 
personal information in respect of Mr Tierney, are included in the attached record prepared by Ervia’s 

pension consultants, Aon Hewitt (Record # 1). That record notes the fact that a contribution to Mr 
Tierney’s pension will be made by Dublin City Council pursuant to the provisions of the Local Government 

Superannuation Scheme, but not until Mr Tierney reaches the age of 60. That position is confirmed by 
the attached letter from Dublin City Council’s Human Resources Department attached as (Record # 2).  

 

The Irish Water financial statements refer also to a “Termination benefits – severance” sum of €100,000 
payable to Mr Tierney. This reflects another entitlement of his local authority service, preserved in Mr 

Tierney’s employment with Ervia, entitling him to a severance gratuity of 50% of final salary. 
 

Public interest test 
In accordance with Section 37(5) of the FOI Act, there is a public interest test to be taken into 
consideration when determining whether to refuse a request on the grounds of Section 37(1).   I have, 

therefore considered whether any public interest in the release of the withheld information would 
outweigh any public interest in withholding such information. 

 
I have found that the following factors favour the withholding of certain records and certain parts of 

other records:  

 
 I am of the view that there is a strong public interest in protecting information of a personal 

nature.  In my view the right to privacy of all Irish Water staff members and former staff 

members in respect of their personal information far outweighs any public interest in favour of 
releasing personal information that relates to any individual staff member or former staff 

member.   

 
 taking into account the principles set out in section 11(3) of the FOI Act, the nature of the 

redactions and edits that have been made to certain of the released records do not prejudice 

the use of the released records in connection with (i) the need to achieve greater openness in 
the activities of Irish Water and to promote greater transparency, (ii) the need to strengthen 

the accountability and improve the quality of decision making in Irish Water, and (iii) the need 
to inform scrutiny, discussion, comment and review by the public of Irish Water. 

 

I have also found that the following factors favour the release of the records: 
 

 the right of the public to access information under the FOI Act and to ensure that activities and 

operations are open and transparent; and  
 

 the ability of the public to hold Irish Water to account. 

 

It is my view that the public interest is best served in this instance by limiting access to the records 
requested through the limited redactions which I have made. 

 
In coming to this conclusion, I had regard, among other things, on the guidance provided by the recent 

decision of the High Court in FP v Information Commissioner [2016] IEHC 771.  The decision in this case 

emphasises that, although there is a general public interest in openness and accountability in relation to 
information held by FOI bodies, this is outweighed by the public interest in protecting and upholding the 

privacy of persons whose confidential and personal information would, pursuant to a release of records 
under the FOI Act, be disclosed to the world at large against their will. 
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RIGHT OF APPEAL 
You may appeal this decision.  In the event that you decide to make such an appeal, you can do so by 

writing to the Freedom of Information Unit, Irish Water, Colvill House, 24-26 Talbot St., Dublin 1 

enclosing the appropriate fee of €30. Payment should be made by way of bank draft, money order, 
postal order or cheque made payable to Irish Water (FOI). You should make your appeal within 4 weeks 

from the date of this notification however the making of a late appeal may be permitted in exceptional 
circumstances. The appeal will involve a complete reconsideration of the matter by a more senior 

member of the staff of Irish Water. 
 

Kind regards, 

 
 
Noel Shannon 
Freedom of Information Officer 

 
 
Colvill House, 24-26 Talbot St, Dublin 1, Ireland 
T +353 1 892 5182 | www.ervia.ie 
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